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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

Western Division 
Civil Action No. 5:16-cv-00063-BO 

KERNAN MANION, M.D, 
 

Plaintiff 
v. 
 
NORTH CAROLINA MEDICAL BOARD, et al., 
 

Defendants 
 

DEFENDANTS NORTH CAROLINA 
PHYSICIANS HEALTH PROGRAM, INC., 

WARREN PENDERGAST, M.D., 
GREGORY W. TAYLOR, M.D., and 

DAVID D. COLLINS, M.D.’S 
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF THEIR 

MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

NOW COME defendants North Carolina Physicians Health Program, Inc., (“PHP”) Warren 

Pendergast, M.D. (“Dr. Pendergast”), Gregory W. Taylor, M.D. (“Dr. Taylor”), and David D. Collins, M.D. 

(“Dr. Collins”) (collectively, the “PHP defendants”), pursuant to Local Rules 7.2 and 10.1, and submit the 

following memorandum in support of their motion to dismiss the complaint:  

NATURE OF THE MATTER BEFORE THE COURT 
 

This cause constitutes plaintiff’s second attempt to litigate federal constitutional challenges to 

alleged wrongful actions of the PHP defendants, who appropriately performed their statutorily prescribed 

functions of investigating plaintiff’s fitness to practice medicine at the behest of the North Carolina Medical 

Board (“the Medical Board” or “Board”).   Plaintiff’s present constitutional challenges were dismissed with 

prejudice by the Superior Court, New Hanover County in a 28 February 2013 order granting the Board’s 

motion to dismiss (Mtn to Dism., Ex. B) Plaintiff, who now alleges that the PHP defendants’ policies drew 

him into a “Kafkaesque damned if you do, damned if you don’t catch 22 scenario,” filed the instant lawsuit 

on 8 February 2016, nearly five years after the occurrence of the principal events alleged against the PHP 

defendants. (D.E. 1, ¶ 118) The gravamen of the suit includes constitutional claims from the prior state 

litigation that are now cloaked under 42 USC § 1983. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 1-154) The instant federal complaint also 

alleges violations of 42 USC § 1985, Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), and several 

North Carolina tort claims.   The PHP defendants now move to dismiss the complaint. 
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FACTS 
 
 The Medical Board “is an agency of the state of North Carolina. . . .”  (D.E. 1, ¶ 12) Under N.C.G.S. 

§ 90 et seq., the Board is charged with the statutory responsibility of regulating the licensure and practice 

of physicians and other prescribed medical professionals in this state in order to advance public health and 

safety.  (Id.)  In discharging its codified responsibilities, the Board shall, by order, require an examination 

of a licensee if reasonable justification exists to question the licensee’s fitness to safely practice medicine 

by reason of, among other things, mental abnormality.  (Id., ¶ 13; MOU, Ex. A to Mtn to Dismiss, Sec. 1).  

To that end, the Board “has the ultimate authority to restrict, suspend, or revoke the license of a licensee 

who is unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients.” (Id., ¶ 14; MOU, Sec. 1) (emphasis 

added).  

 The North Carolina Medical Society (the Society) is a statutorily incorporated North Carolina non-

profit professional medical association.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 17; MOU, Sec. 2) Its principal role is to preserve the 

integrity and vitality of the medical profession and to ensure that North Carolina’s medical providers offer 

safe, quality medical services to the patients of this jurisdiction.  (Id.)  The society performs its functions 

through its affiliate organizations, namely the PHP.  (Id.) 

PHP was organized as a North Carolina non-profit corporation on 26 August 1993.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 20; 

MOU Sec. 3) Specifically, “PHP was created for the purpose of operating and administering the Board’s 

and Society’s Program as contemplated under and defined in this [MOU].”  (MOU, Sec. 3) The complaint 

further alleges that PHP “was created for their purpose of identifying impaired licensees, implementing 

appropriate measures to protect public health and safety and rehabilitating impaired licensees.”  (D.E. 1, ¶ 

20; MOU Sec. 3) Furthermore, a significant number of directors on PHP’s board of directors are appointed 

by the Board and the Society.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 21) Dr. Pendergast is the Chief Executive Officer of PHP and 

served as its medical director during the events sub judice.  (D.E. 1, 24) As for Drs. Collins and Taylor, the 

complaint’s lone allegations state that they each served at respective points as chair of the PHP board of 

directors.  (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 30-31). 
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Accordingly, the complaint and MOU plainly establish as a matter of law that PHP serves as the 

investigatory arm of the Board to identify and initially assess medical licensees whom the Board deems 

impaired.  Thus, pursuant to the MOU, “[t]he State of North Carolina, by and through NCMB, entered into 

a formal relationship with the Society and NCPHP by way of [the] Memorandum of Understanding dated 

November 30, 2009.”  (D.E. 1, ¶ 22; MOU Introductory [WHEREAS] Paragraphs) (emphasis added).   

Pursuant to N.C.G.S.§ 90-14(b) (2015) and the MOU, the Board is statutorily required to refer all 

licensees to PHP whose health and effectiveness have been significantly impaired by, inter alia, mental 

illness.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 22; MOU, Introductory Paragraph 2, Sec. 2) Upon referral, PHP shall conduct its review 

and report the results of all such investigations and evaluations concerning the statutorily referred cases to 

the Board.  (MOU, Sec. 5) When a report from PHP is received and discussed with PHP, the Board then, 

upon reasonable grounds for believing the reported licensee to be impaired, shall act unilaterally pursuant 

to the panoply of statutory actions prescribed by Chapter 90.  (MOU, Sec. 9) Thus, the Board is universally 

cloaked with “the statutory prerogative and authority to determine, in any instance, whether an individual 

licensee is able to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients. . . .”) (MOU, Sec. 12) 

Plaintiff, a psychiatrist, was first licensed to practice medicine in North Carolina on 17 April 2002.  

(D.E. 1, ¶¶ 30-31) Plaintiff was discharged from prior service as a locum tenans psychiatrist in the 

Wilmington, NC area at a military hospital, and litigation ensued in this District Court.  See, e.g., Manion 

v. Spectrum Healthcare Res., 966 F. Supp. 2d 561 (E.D.N.C. 2013). Following his discharge from the 

contract position, plaintiff alleges that he began experiencing “strange or unusual things,” which “included 

noxious odors and low frequency noises in his home and place of business, and being followed.” (D.E. 1, 

¶ 34) Plaintiff conveyed these events to the Wilmington Chief of Police, who arranged a meeting with a 

Wilmington Police detective to discuss these events further. (Id.)  The Medical Board received information 

from the Wilmington Police Department about the meeting, expressed concern about plaintiff’s mental 

health, and consequently opened an investigation.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 35)   

Seeking to short-circuit the statutory procedures of the Board and PHP under Chapter 90, plaintiff 

obtained an independent psychological evaluation from Edwin Carter, Ph.D., a non-physician. (D.E. 1, ¶ 
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37) The carefully selected portions of the report that are cited in the complaint, replete with ellipses, purport 

to illustrate that plaintiff “can isolate his personal problems” such that they “do not interfere with his ability 

to practice medicine.”  (D.E. 1, ¶ 39)   

Consistent with its statutory responsibilities, the Board ordered plaintiff to undergo an assessment 

by PHP on 12 October 2011.  PHP’s assessment of plaintiff occurred 5 December 2011.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 42) The 

assessment included an evaluation by defendant Dr. Pendergast, as well as the production of a urine sample 

to test for illicit substances. (Id.) Based upon its assessment through Dr. Pendergast, PHP recommended 

that plaintiff complete a comprehensive psychological assessment at an out-of-state mental health treatment 

facility. (D.E. 1, ¶ 46) The recommendation also suggested that plaintiff cease practicing medicine until he 

has completed the evaluation. (Id.) 

Plaintiff refused to submit to the recommended out-of-state assessment because he deemed it 

unnecessary. (D.E. 1, ¶ 56) On 19 January 2012, the Medical Board voted to order plaintiff to undergo 

evaluation and treatment at an out-of-state facility in Kansas named Acumen pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 

90-14(a)(5) 2015. (D.E. 1, ¶ 57) The January 2012 order spawned the prior litigation in New Hanover 

County, in which plaintiff’s constitutional challenges were defeated by the prior February 2013 order (Mtn 

to Dismiss, Ex. B).   

On 10 October 2012, the Board brought formal charges against plaintiff alleging that he failed to 

comply with the prior evaluation order.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 60) Again seeking to circumvent established statutory 

procedures, plaintiff underwent another independent mental health assessment in order to further convince 

the Board of his fitness to practice medicine in this State.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 61) Although plaintiff was adamantly 

opposed to undergoing an out-of-state assessment, he voluntarily traveled to New York in January 2013 to 

be evaluated by Drs. Barry Rosenfeld, Ph.D. and Paul Appelbaum, M.D., mental health providers of his 

choosing. (Id.) The complaint alleges that the Medical Board required Dr. Appelbaum to have a 

conversation with Dr. Pendergast prior to his January 2013 evaluation in New York. (Id.) The complaint 

then alleges in a speculative and conclusory fashion that “upon information and belief Dr. Appelbaum’s 
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evaluation was tainted by Dr. Pendergast’s bias.”  (Id.)  Dr. Appelbaum ultimately concluded that plaintiff 

was delusional.  (Id.)   

On 7 February 2013, counsel for the Medical Board informed Dr. Manion that it may be in his best 

interest to inactivate his own medical license because it appeared that he could not practice with skill and 

safety by reason of a mental illness. (D.E. 1, ¶ 62) Thus, the Board offered a compromise to plaintiff. (D.E. 

1, ¶ 64) Specifically, if plaintiff chose not to stand for a full administrative trial on the merits, the Board 

would issue a letter of concern on the condition that plaintiff would first inactivate his medical license. 

Apparently not confident of his position on the merits, plaintiff decided not to stand trial pursuant 

to the Administrative Procedure Act codified at Chapter 150 of the North Carolina General Statutes. (D.E. 

1, ¶ 65) Instead, plaintiff chose to voluntarily inactivate his own medical license on 9 February 2013.  (Id.)  

Formal charges against plaintiff were then dismissed by the Medical Board pursuant to this proposal.  (D.E. 

1, ¶ 66) Plaintiff subsequently attempted to reinstate his license, and on 7 May 2015, the Medical Board 

informed plaintiff that the first step of the reinstatement process would be to undergo a PHP evaluation.  

(D.E. 1, ¶ 68) 

ARGUMENT 

I. STANDARDS OF REVIEW 
 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) 

 
“On a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1) based on the 

insufficiency of the allegations of the complaint, as here, ‘all the facts alleged in the complaint are assumed 

to be true and the plaintiff, in effect, is afforded the same procedural protection as he would receive under 

a Rule 12(b)(6) consideration.’”  Kirby v. N.C. State Univ. , 5:13-Cv-850, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 30140 

(E.D.N.C. 2015). “The plaintiff bears the burden of showing that federal jurisdiction exists.”  Id. at 1219. 

Although the Fourth Circuit has not definitively determined whether dismissal on Eleventh Amendment 

grounds should be based on Rule 12(b)(1) or Rule 12(b)(6), Andrews v. Daw, 201 F.3d 521, 525 n.2 (4th 

Cir. 2000) (discussing the Fourth Circuit split in dismissing cases on Eleventh Amendment grounds under 

both Rule 12(b)(1) and Rule 12(b)(6)), federal courts in this District have found it appropriate to proceed 
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under Rule 12(b)(1), where sovereign immunity under the Eleventh Amendment is not entangled in the 

merits of plaintiff's claims and is dispositive of the case. Kirby at * 6. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) 
 

This Court has articulated that: 
 

[a] Rule 12(b)(6) motion tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint. When 
acting on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the court should accept 
as true all well-pleaded allegations and should view the complaint in a 
light most favorable to the plaintiff.  A complaint must allege enough facts 
to state a claim to relief that is facially plausible. Mere recitals of the 
elements of a cause of action supported by conclusory statements do not 
suffice. If the factual allegations do not nudge the plaintiff's claims across 
the line from conceivable to plausible, the complaint must be dismissed.  

 
Singletary v. Dep’t. of Health and Human Servs., 848 F. Supp. 2d 588 (E.D.N.C. 2012).  As part and parcel 

of this anaysis, “a plaintiff's obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief’ requires more 

than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of a cause of action’s elements will not do.” 

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555 (citations omitted).  Moreover, a court “need not accept the legal conclusions 

drawn from the facts” nor “accept as true unwarranted inferences, unreasonable conclusions, or 

arguments.” Eastern Shore Mkts., Inc. v. J.D. Assocs. Ltd. Pshp., 213 F.3d 175, 180 (4th Cir. 2000) 

(emphasis added); Cf.  Harman v. Unisys, 356 Fed. Appx 638, 640-41 (4th Cir. 2009) (summary averments 

“made upon information and belief” are insufficient to defeat a motion to dismiss under Twombly). 

Thus, “[a] claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court 

to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” T.W.T. Distrib. v. 

Johnson Prods. Co., 966 F. Supp. 2d 576, 580 (W.D.N.C. 2013).   “This is a context-specific task that 

requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and common sense, so as not to 

inappropriately unlock the doors of discovery for a plaintiff armed with nothing more than conclusions.  Id. 

A district court may also allow a motion to dismiss based on a defendant's affirmative defense, such as the 

statute of limitations or collateral estoppel, “if all facts necessary to the affirmative defense ‘clearly appear 

[ ] on the face of the complaint.’” Goodman v. Praxair, 494 F.3d 458, 463 (4th Cir. 2007)  It is also well-

established in this Circuit that a District Court can consider documents attached to the motion to dismiss, 
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so long as they are authentic and integral to the complaint without converting the motion to one for summary 

judgment.  Phillips v. LCI Intern., Inc., 190 F.3d 609, 618 (4th Cir. 1999) (considering a statement attached 

to a motion to dismiss where “it was integral to and explicitly relied on in the complaint and because the 

plaintiffs do not challenge its authenticity.”).  

II. RULE 12 DEFENSES  

A. ALL CLAIMS FILED AGAINST PHP AND DRS. PENDERGAST AND TAYLOR IN 
THEIR OFFICIAL CAPACITIES ARE BARREDBY THE ELEVENTH AMENDMENT.  
  

 Since PHP is an alter-ego of the state of North Carolina, and this state has not waived its sovereign 

immunity by consenting to suit in federal court, all claims against PHP and derivative official capacity 

claims against Drs. Pendergast and Taylor are barred by the Eleventh Amendment.  Fourth Circuit 

jurisprudence relative to Eleventh Amendment immunity is well established.  Specifically:  

[t]he Eleventh Amendment states that [t]he judicial power of the United 
States shall not be construed to extend to any suit in law or equity, 
commenced or prosecuted against one of the United States by Citizens of 
another State or by Citizens or Subjects of any Foreign States. The 
Amendment has been interpreted to make an unconsenting State . . . 
immune from suits brought in federal courts by her own citizens as well 
as by citizens of another State. 
 
‘The Eleventh Amendment bars a private individual from suing a state in 
federal court.   Further, it applies not only [when] a State is actually named 
as the defendant, but also [when] state agents of state instrumentalities [are 
the defendants]. 

 
Klinger v. Ahern, No. 5-14-CV-14, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 163154 at *9 (W.D.N.C. 2014). Thus, “it is well 

settled that the Eleventh Amendment bars a suit by private parties to recover money damages from the state 

or its alter-egos acting in their official capacities.”  Huang v. Bd. of Governors of Univ. of N. Carolina, 

902 F.2d 1134, 1138 (4th Cir. 1990) (emphasis added). 

 The Medical Board is an agency of the state of North Carolina and is thus entitled to Eleventh 

Amendment immunity. Hoke v. Board of Medical Examiners of the State of North Carolina, 445 F. Supp. 

1313, 1314 (W.D.N.C. 1978). Furthermore, the Board is not a “person” within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. 

Section 1983 and thus cannot be subject to a suit for damages.  Id.  Like the Medical Board, the PHP 
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defendants also qualify as an alter-ego of the state under the Fourth Circuit balancing test. S.C. Dep’t of 

Disabilities and Special Needs v. Hoover Universal, Inc., 535 F.3d 300, 303 (4th Cir. 2008). Specifically: 

[t]he Fourth Circuit has articulated four non-exclusive factors to consider 
when determining whether if a State-created entity is functioning as an 
arm or alter ego of the State: 
 
(1) whether any judgment against the entity as defendant will be paid by 
the State or whether any recovery by the entity as plaintiff will inure to the 
benefit of the State; (2) the degree of autonomy exercised by the entity, 
including such circumstances as who appoints the entity's directors or 
officers, who funds the entity, and whether the State retains a veto over the 
entity's actions; (3) whether the entity is involved with state concerns as 
distinct from non-state concerns, including local concerns; and (4) how the 
entity is treated under state law, such as whether the entity's relationship 
with the State is sufficiently close to make the entity an arm of the State. 
 

Id.  While the traditional iteration of this test separately examined whether the state treasury would be 

affected before proceeding to the remaining balancing considerations, “more recent Supreme Court 

precedent suggests that the first factor does not deserve [the] pre-eminence with being considered the most 

important factor.”  U.S. ex rel. Oberg v. V. Kentucky Higher Educ. Student Loan Corp., 681 F.3d 575, 580 

n.3 (4th Cir. 2012).  Thus, the analysis constitutes a true ad hoc balancing test. 

 With regard to the state treasury factor, the complaint and MOU plainly establish that PHP is funded 

by the Medical Board, an agency of the state of North Carolina.  (D.E. 1, ¶ 20; MOU, Sec. 7) Specifically, 

Section 7 of the MOU mandates that the Board remit precalculated monthly funds to PHP to cover its needs 

and expenses, and further process requests from PHP for additional funding on a case-by-case basis. (MOU, 

Sec. 7) Although PHP is charged to explore other sources of funding, the record establishes that the only 

funding to PHP on this complaint comes from the state of North Carolina. Id. Furthermore, the state, through 

the Medical Board, is charged with reviewing audited financial information of PHP to ensure its solvency.  

PHP is therefore funded through state appropriations funneled by the Medical Board and is specifically 

overseen by that entity from a financial perspective. PHP has no power to tax and is wholly reliant on the 

state for appropriations. Thus, “the state treasury would be subject to potential legal liability” in the event 

of a potential money judgment against PHP.  General Star Nation Ins. Co. v. North Carolina Public Officers 
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and Employees Liability Ins. Co., No. 3:10-CV-256, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107475 at *6 (W.D.N.C. 

2011).1  This first factor accordingly weighs in favor of concluding that PHP is an arm of the state.   

 This tribunal next examines the autonomy factor by studying whether the state retains a veto over 

PHP’s actions, who appoints PHP directors, and who funds the entity. General Star at *7. In the present 

case, the state, through the Medical Board, retains ultimate veto power over all PHP decisions. (MOU, Secs. 

1, 12; D.E. 1, ¶¶ 13, 14) Specifically, the Board retains final and unilateral authority to regulate and 

discipline medical licensees under Chapter 90, notwithstanding PHP findings or recommendations.  Id.  The 

complaint expressly states that the Medical Board “has the ultimate authority to restrict, suspend, or revoke 

the license of a licensee who is unable to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients.” (D.E. 1, ¶ 

14; MOU, Sec. 1) Furthermore, the tripartite MOU states that “[n]otwithstanding anything expressed or 

implied in this memorandum to the contrary, nothing herein shall be construed to in any way alter or affect 

the Board’s statutory prerogative and authority to determine, in any instance whether an individual licensee 

is able to practice with reasonable skill and safety to patients. . . .” (MOU, Sec. 12). The complaint also 

alleges that PHP board members are appointed by the Medical Board, an agency of the state. Specifically, 

the complaint avers that “[a] significant number of directors and NCPHP’s Board of Directors are appointed 

by NCMB and the Society.”  See General Star at * 7 (appointment by other statewide officials is persuasive 

evidence that PHP is an arm of the state). Finally, the complaint and MOU illustrate that funding to PHP is 

tendered by the state through the Medical Board. Likewise, the autonomy factor amply weighs in favor of 

classifying PHP as an alter-ego of the state. 

 PHP is also plainly engaged in an important area of statewide concern: the regulation of medical 

practice and the discipline of this state’s practitioners. The complaint alleges that “PHP was created for the 

purpose of identifying impaired licensees, implementing appropriate measures to protect public health and 

safety, and rehabilitating impaired licensees.” (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 20, 22) (emphasis added); see also MOU, Secs. 

                                                 
1 “The tests for determining whether an entity is an ‘alter ego’ of the state are the same for Eleventh Amendment and 
§ 1332 purposes.”  Wake Forest Univ. Health Sciences v. Regents of the Univ. of Calif., No.  113-cv-111, 2013 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 101196 at *9-9 n. 1 (M.D.N.C. 2013).   
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1, 3, 5. Accordingly, the health and safety of North Carolina’s medical providers necessarily present a 

palpable state concern to ensure that its citizens receive safe and effective medical treatment by competent 

and healthy medical providers. 

Finally, North Carolina law expressly treats PHP as an arm of the state. Specifically, the complaint 

and MOU establish as a matter of law that PHP serves as the investigatory arm of the Board to identify and 

initially assess medical licensees whom the Board deems impaired. Thus, pursuant to the MOU, “[t]he State 

of North Carolina, by and through NCMB, entered into a formal relationship with the Society and NCPHP 

by way of [the] Memorandum of Understanding dates November 30, 2009.” (D.E. 1, ¶ 22; MOU 

Introductory [WHEREAS] Paragraphs) (emphasis added).  Furthermore, N.C. Gen. Stat. 90-21.22(f) 

decrees that all peer review activities conducted by PHP are state directed and constitute state action.  That 

statute decrees that “[p]eer review activities . . . are deemed to be State directed and sanctioned and shall 

constitute State action for the purposes of application of antitrust laws.” (emphasis added) See also Shannon 

v. Testen, __ N.C. App. __, __, 777 S.E.2d 153, 156-157 (2015) (applying G.S. § 90-21-.22(f) to PHP in 

analogous context). This factor also weighs in favor of concluding that PHP is an alter-ego of the state of 

North Carolina. 

Since PHP should necessarily be deemed an “arm of the state” under the applicable Fourth Circuit 

balancing test, it shares in the state’s sovereign immunity from suit in federal court under the Eleventh 

Amendment.   Huang, 902 F.2d at 1138; see also General Star at *10 (holding that the North Carolina 

Public Officers and Employees Liability Insurance Commission is an alter-ego of the state of North 

Carolina since 1) it would be responsible for a hypothetical money judgment, 2) it engages in an area of 

statewide concern, 3) North Carolina law considers it an arm of the state, and 4) it lacks autonomy.)  As the 

Fourth Circuit has held that official capacity claims are essentially the same as ones against the entity, they 

should likewise be dismissed when the entity is also a named defendant.  Love-Lane v. Martin, 355 F.3d 

766, 783 (4th Cir. 2004).  Consequently, the official capacity claims against Drs. Pendergast and Taylor 

represent nothing more than claims against the state entity and should also be dismissed with prejudice for 

lack of subject matter jurisdiction.   
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 Eleventh Amendment immunity jurisprudence further directs that when there are no express indicia 

that North Carolina has waived its immunity under the Eleventh Amendment, the immunity holds firm.  

The Fourth Circuit has decreed that: 

while it is clear that a state may waive the Amendment's protection, it is 
equally clear that courts may find a waiver only where stated by the most 
express language or by such overwhelming implication from the text as 
[will] leave no room for any other reasonable construction. And it is settled 
that HN5Go to the description of this Headnote.a statute waiving a state's 
sovereign immunity in its own courts is insufficient to waive its Eleventh 
Amendment immunity; the statute must  specify the state's intention to be 
sued in federal court.  
 

 Huang at 1138-39 (emphasis added). Plaintiff can point to no statutory provision or otherwise that North 

Carolina has by the most express language or by overwhelming implication from the text of the statute 

consented to suit specifically in federal court, as none exists. Similarly, Congress has not abrogated 

Eleventh Amendment immunity by way of legislation under the Fourteenth Amendment in this context.  

Hence, all claims for money damages and prospective injunctive relief filed in federal court against the 

PHP defendants fail under the Eleventh Amendment. See Kirby at *8-9, n.3 (“The claims against state 

instrumentalities specifically held to be covered by sovereign immunity under the Eleventh Amendment 

include claims pursuant to § 1983 and § 1985, and claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress, 

and injunctive and declaratory relief.”); Hooper v. North Carolina, 379 F. Supp. 2d 804, 812-13 (M.D.N.C. 

2005) (concluding that N.C.'s  limited waiver of sovereign immunity for negligence claims under to N.C. 

Gen. Stat. § 143-291 mandates that the claims be adjudicated in the North Carolina Industrial Commission).   

In a lone conclusory allegation, plaintiff purports to avoid dismissal under the Eleventh 

Amendment by seeking permanent prospective injunctive relief against PHP, and Drs. Pendergast and 

Taylor in their official capacities, for a claimed continuing procedural due process violation under 42 USC 

§ 1983. (D.E. 1, Prayer for Relief ¶ 2). This argument fails for several reasons.  

First, the United States Supreme Court has specified that the narrow Ex Parte Young exception 

“applies only to state officials and not a state or its instrumentalities.”  Kirby at *9, fn 3, citing Puerto Rico 

Aqueduct & Sewer Auth. v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., 506 U.S. 139, 146 (1993) (emphasis added).  Thus, 
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Eleventh Amendment immunity still shields PHP, the state instrumentality. Furthermore, the claimed 

prospective injunctive relief of reinstatement of medical licensure sought in paragraph 4 of plaintiff’s prayer 

for relief is directed solely to the Medical Board, and thus does not seek any such relief against PHP.   

Plaintiff’s complaint also fails to plausibly allege any ongoing constitutional violation by a PHP 

official. Specifically, the complaint alleges four distinct past acts undertaken by PHP through Dr. 

Pendergast which form the basis of plaintiff’s section 1983 claims.  Those claims are rooted in alleged 

violations of procedural and substantive due process as well as the Fourth Amendment protection against 

unreasonable search and seizure.   First, the complaint alleges that an assessment was performed and urine 

sample taken of plaintiff by Dr. Pendergast on 5 December 2011. (D.E. 1, ¶ 42) The complaint next alleges 

that Dr. Pendergast recommended to the Medical Board that plaintiff complete a comprehensive 

psychological assessment in a Kansas mental health facility on 13 December 2011, and further 

recommended that Dr. Manion cease practicing pending that assessment. (D.E. 1, ¶ 46) Plaintiff next avers 

that Dr. Pendergast spoke with an outside assessor of plaintiff’s own choosing, Dr. Appelbaum, prior to 

Appelbaum’s rogue mental evaluation in January 2013. (D.E. 1, ¶ 61) Plaintiff also alleges that while Dr. 

Pendergast failed to provide him with the report of the initial assessment of 5 December 2011, that report 

was provided to him in August 2015. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 45, 194) Thus, Count 2 of plaintiff’s complaint fails to 

plausibly allege that any of the above conduct directed by Dr. Pendergast has continued against him or 

anyone else. Instead, plaintiff’s attempt to allege a continuing violation in Count 2 of his complaint as to 

Dr. Pendergast constitutes nothing more than recycled allegations of his original constitutional claims, 

which plainly focus on past wrongs and seek requisite monetary damage. Kautz v. Trustees of Haywood 

Comm. College, No. 1:10-CV-235, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 50773 at *12-13 (W.D.N.C. 2011).  As to Dr. 

Taylor, the complaint fails to plausibly allege any specific conduct that would give rise to any alleged 

constitutional violation. (D.E. 1, ¶ 31). Thus, no prospective injunctive relief lies as to Dr. Taylor, and all 

claims against him should be dismissed with prejudice. See, e.g., Mackean v. UNC, No. 1:12-CV-371, 2013 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 43224 at *15 –16 (M.D.N.C. 2013). Finally, plaintiff’s attempt to rely on the Ex Parte 

Young exception fails since all constitutional claims against Dr. Pendergast should be dismissed with 
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prejudice pursuant to the additional threshold Rule 12(b)(6) defenses consistent with this motion.  

Accordingly, as the Eleventh Amendment bars all claims against the PHP defendants, the complaint should 

be totally dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction or for failure to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted. 

B. ALL FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS FILED AGAINST THE PHP 
DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO 42 USC § 1983 ARE BARRED AS A MATTER OF LAW. 

 
 “To state a claim under §1983, a plaintiff must aver that a person acting under color of state law 

deprived him of a constitutional right or right conferred by a law of the United States.”  Wahi v. Charleston 

Area Med. Ctr., Inc. 562 F.3d 599, 615 (4th Cir. 2009). 

1.  All of plaintiff’s section 1983 claims against the PHP defendants are barred by the 
applicable three-year statute of limitations. 

 
 Plaintiff’s claims under section 1983 are baseless because the complaint, on its face, plainly 

establishes that they were not timely filed within three years after the claims accrued. Fourth Circuit 

jurisprudence on this point is well-established.  Specifically: 

. . . the statute of limitations for a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is 
borrowed from state law,. . .   But . . .even though the limitation period is 
borrowed from state law, the question of when a cause of action accrues 
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 remains one of federal law. Under federal law a 
cause of action accrues when the plaintiff possesses sufficient facts about 
the harm done to him that reasonable inquiry will reveal his cause of 
action. . . . for a cause of action to accrue, it is critical that the plaintiff 
know that he has been hurt and who inflicted the injury. Once imputed 
with that knowledge, the plaintiff is on inquiry notice, imposing on him a 
duty to inquire about the details of negligence that are reasonably 
discoverable. ‘To excuse him from promptly [making inquiry] by 
postponing the accrual of his claim would undermine the purpose of the 
limitations statute.  
 
Accrual of a claim does not await awareness by the plaintiff that his injury 
was negligently inflicted.  Thus, for purposes of a § 1983 claim, a cause 
of action accrues either when the plaintiff has knowledge of his claim or 
when he is put on notice--e.g., by the knowledge of the fact of injury and 
who caused it--to make reasonable inquiry and that inquiry would reveal 
the existence of a colorable claim. 
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Nasim v. Warden, 64 F.3d 951, 954-55 (4th Cir. 1995) (en banc). This Court has recently reiterated that 

North Carolina’s three-year statute of limitations for personal injury actions governs a plaintiff’s claims 

brought under 42 USC § 1983.  Perry v. Pamlico Cnty, 88 F. Supp. 3d 518, 529 (E.D.N.C. 2015).   

 Plaintiff’s section 1983 claims filed against the PHP defendants on 8 February 2016 consist of 

alleged violations of procedural due process, substantive due process, and the Fourth Amendment 

restriction against unreasonable search and seizure. All of these claims are barred since the complaint 

illustrates that they were not timely filed within three years after each of the claims accrued. 

As to the PHP defendants, the complaint alleges only four distinct acts which comprise his section 

1983 claims against them. First, the complaint alleges that an “assessment” was performed and urine sample 

taken of plaintiff by Dr. Pendergast on 5 December 2011 (D.E. 1, ¶ 42) As to the allegedly unlawful urine 

sample, plaintiff had actual knowledge of his claim. Plaintiff was necessarily aware on 5 December 2011 

that his urine sample was obtained and tested for drugs by Dr. Pendergast and PHP “despite no evidence or 

reasonable suspicion of substance abuse.” (Id.)  Cramer v. Crutchfield, 648 F.2d 943, 945 (4th Cir. 1981) 

(cause of action for illegal search under section 1983 accrues on the date of the search). 

So too with regard to the alleged PHP assessment. Plaintiff pleads that he protested the need for 

such an assessment prior to 5 December 2011 since he previously claimed that he was mentally fit.  (D.E. 

1, ¶ 41) Consequently, plaintiff necessarily knew that the assessment was wrongful and injurious even 

before it was conducted since it was done under staunch protest. (Id.) Plaintiff further alleges that Dr. 

Pendergast’s 5 December 2011 evaluation of him “wrongly and negligently, or intentionally and with 

malice, concluded that [he] was mentally ill . . . .” (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 42-43) The complaint also avers that following 

Dr. Pendergast’s initial assessment, he and PHP on 13 December 2011 recommended that plaintiff undergo 

an outside comprehensive psychological assessment.  Consequently, even liberally construing plaintiff’s 

complaint, he necessarily knew of the fact of injury relating to the initial assessment and who caused it no 

later than 13 December 2011 to have put him on notice.   

The complaint next alleges that prior to PHP and Dr. Pendergast’s 11 December 2011 

recommendation that plaintiff undergo outside psychological assessment, they refused to provide plaintiff 
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with a report of the initial assessment or lab tests conducted on 5 December 2011. Likewise, the face of the 

complaint conclusively establishes that plaintiff had knowledge of the fact of injury and knowledge of who 

caused the injury in December 2011 with regard to the alleged lack of documentation. (D.E. 1, ¶ 45) 

The complaint also alleges that PHP and Dr. Pendergast recommended to the Medical Board that 

plaintiff complete a comprehensive psychological assessment at a Kansas mental health facility on 13 

December 2011, and further recommended that Dr. Manion cease practicing psychiatry pending that 

assessment. (D.E. 1, ¶ 46) The face of the complaint alleges that prior to the 19 January 2012 Medical Board 

order directing plaintiff to undergo treatment at the outside psychiatric facility, plaintiff adamantly “refused 

to submit to the specified preferred out-of-state assessment . . . as recommended by PHP and Dr. 

Pendergast.” (D.E. 1, ¶ 56) Specifically, plaintiff alleges that the PHP defendants “had demonstrated no 

reasonable basis to conclude that [he] was impaired and unfit to practice medicine.” (D.E. 1, ¶ 55). The 

complaint consequently reveals that plaintiff had knowledge of the fact of injury stemming from PHP and 

Dr. Pendergast’s recommendation for outside assessment well before the 19 January 2012 Medical Board 

order that directed plaintiff to undergo such evaluation and treatment at the Kansas facility because he 

unsuccessfully sought to enjoin that order in the Superior Court of New Hanover County. (D.E. 1, ¶ 57-58; 

Mtn to Dism., Ex. B) Likewise, since plaintiff proclaimed his mental fitness prior to October 2011, he was 

necessarily aware of the fact of injury relating to PHP and Dr. Pendergast’s recommendation that he cease 

practicing psychiatry in December 2011.   

The final allegation against the PHP defendants avers that Dr. Pendergast spoke with an outside 

mental health professional of plaintiff’s own choosing, Dr. Appelbaum, prior to Appelbaum’s mental 

evaluation of plaintiff in January 2013. (D.E. 1, ¶ 61) Particularly, the complaint alleges, upon information 

and belief, that Dr. Pendergast had a conversation with Dr. Appelbaum just prior to his evaluation of 

plaintiff which tainted Appelbaum’s evaluation with bias at the time. (Id.) Thus, the complaint reveals that 

“Dr. Appelbaum concluded that [plaintiff] was delusional based chiefly on information he received from 

Dr. Pendergast about [plaintiff] . . . .” (Id.) Accordingly, plaintiff had knowledge of the fact of the alleged 
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injury relating to Dr. Pendergast’s conversation with Dr. Appelbaum in January 2013 and that Dr. 

Pendergast was responsible for the same.  (Id.) 

Plaintiff had actual knowledge or was placed on inquiry notice of all section 1983 claims against 

the PHP defendants primarily in 2011 and no later than January 2013.  However, since the present complaint 

containing the 1983 claims against the PHP defendants was not filed until 8 February 2016, these claims 

should be dismissed pursuant to the applicable statute of limitations as they were not filed within three years 

after accrual.  See Nasim at 956 (affirming the District Court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s section 1983 claims 

pursuant to the three-year statute of limitations where the face of the complaint revealed that in 1989 

plaintiff, a medical doctor and surgeon, knew that asbestos was dumped into his prison cell, he knew who 

dumped the asbestos, he knew asbestos presented a health hazard, voiced protest about the action, and 

complained of resultant injuries.)  Like the plaintiff in Nasim, the instant plaintiff also possessed sufficient 

knowledge of his section 1983 claims, as a matter of law, between 2011 and 2013 to place him on actual or 

inquiry notice.2  Id.; see also Perry at 529-30 (dismissing plaintiff’s section 1983 claims pursuant to North 

Carolina’s three-year statute of limitations “when she” knew or had reason to know of her injury on the day 

that the alleged wrongs were committed.”) Accordingly, the 1983 claims are stale and should be dismissed 

with prejudice pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).   

2. All of plaintiff’s section 1983 claims against the PHP defendants are barred for want of 
proximate causation. 

 
 The complaint fails to plausibly allege that the preliminary fact-finding and investigatory actions 

of the PHP defendants proximately caused plaintiff any legally cognizable harm.  Thus, all 1983 claims 

should be dismissed for lack of the essential element of proximate cause common to all constitutional torts. 

The Fourth Circuit has explained that: 

[t]he basic purpose of a § 1983 damages award should be to compensate 
persons for injuries caused by the deprivation of constitutional rights . . . .  
A plaintiff asserting a constitutional tort under § 1983 must therefore 
satisfy the familiar element of proximate causation. Section 1983 tort 
defendants are certainly responsible for the natural consequences of [their] 

                                                 
2 Plaintiff’s status during through January 2013 as a duly licensed medical doctor practicing psychiatry in North 
Carolina highlights his inquiry notice responsibilities under Nasim. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 38 – 40, 43).   
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actions. However, [a] superseding cause [will] break[] the chain of 
proximate causation.  Specifically, the ‘subsequent acts of independent 
decision-makers . . . may constitute intervening superseding causes that 
break the causal chain’ . . . . from § 1983 liability.  

 
Kane v. Lewis, No. 14-1027, 604 Fed. Appx. 229, 234-35 (4th Cir. 2015); see also Evans v. Chalmers, 703 

F.3d 636, 647-48 (4th Cir. 2012). Accordingly, the subsequent acts of independent decision-makers such as 

prosecutors, grand juries, and judges may constitute intervening superseding causes that break the causal 

chain between a defendant’s alleged misconduct and a section 1983 violation resulting in legally cognizable 

harm.  Id.  When an intermediary, such as a prosecutor, retains all discretion to move forward with charges, 

the Fourth Circuit has held that the investigative officers involved in a subject case are not liable for 

damages under section 1983 for their general fact-finding role unless they have lied to or misled the 

intermediary. Id. at 648; see also D.E. 1, ¶ 14, MOU, Secs. 1, 12 (alleging and decreeing that the Medical 

Board has the ultimate authority to revoke the license of a licensee who is unfit to practice) The standard 

for this exception is quite high. In order for the investigative officers to remain liable they must engage in 

objectively egregious behavior such as failing to disclose exculpatory evidence to the prosecutor or unduly 

pressuring him to seek charges.  Id.  

 In a published opinion, this court’s sister tribunal in the Middle District held long ago that “[t]he 

[Medical] Board’s decision to prefer charges is indistinguishable from a prosecutor’s decision to initiate a 

criminal proceeding or a grand jury’s decision to return a criminal indictment.” Hoke at 1316. All of 

plaintiff’s alleged damages stem from the Medical Board’s independent action of instituting formal charges 

against plaintiff on 10 October 2012. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 60, 62-66, 70-71). All allegations against the PHP 

defendants, however, pertain solely to general fact-finding and investigatory functions.  

 The 10 October 2012 Medical Board order bringing formal charges against plaintiff (and potentially 

the events surrounding the purported “constructive revocation” of plaintiff’s license in February 2013) 

served as the superseding cause, broke the chain of proximate causation as a matter of law, and thus 

insulated the prior investigatory actions of the PHP defendants. Kane at 234-35.  Significantly, plaintiff has 

failed to plausibly allege that any of the PHP defendants unduly pressured the Medical Board to bring 
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formal charges, or failed to disclose exculpatory evidence. Fox v. City of Greensboro, 807 F. Supp. 2d 476, 

493-94 (M.D.N.C. 2011) In fact, the Medical Board was equipped with the purported “exculpatory 

evidence” -the comprehensive psychological evaluation from Edwin Carter, Ph.D., which allegedly 

declared plaintiff sane and fit to practice psychiatry prior to the Board’s order directing PHP to perform 

an assessment on plaintiff. (D.E. 1, ¶ 37-41).  As such, all section 1983 claims alleged against the PHP 

defendants should be dismissed with prejudice for lack of proximate causation pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). 

3. All section 1983 claims against the PHP defendants based upon alleged due process 
violations up to and including the Medical Board’s 19 January 2012 order for outside 
assessment are barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel.  

 
 Since the core of plaintiff’s federal due process challenges, now couched under 42 USC §1983, 

have already been litigated and decided by a full and final judgment of the Superior Court of New Hanover 

County, North Carolina, those claims up to and including the 19 January 2012 order for outside assessment 

are barred by collateral estoppel. (Mtn to Dism., Ex. B)   

 “It is well-settled that the full faith and credit clause and its statutory parallel, 28 USC §1738 (1976), 

require federal courts to give preclusive effect to the state court judgment which are given that same effect 

by the courts of the forum state.”  Moore v. Bonner, 695 F. 2d 799, 800- 801 (4th Cir. 1982).  Collateral 

estoppel also applies to section 1983 actions.  Yow v. Crater, 526 F. Supp. 240, 246 (M.D.N.C. 1981).  

Accordingly, the essential elements of collateral estoppel are as follows: 

(1) The issues to be concluded must be the same as those involved in the 
prior action; (2) in the prior action, the issues must have been raised and 
actually litigated; (3) the issues must have been material and relevant to 
the disposition of the prior action; and (4) the determination made of those 
issues in the prior action must have been necessary and essential to the 
resulting judgment. 

 
Urquhart v. East Carolina School of Medicine, 211 N.C. App. 124, 128, 712 S.E.2d 200, 204 (2011).3 Of 

particular significance, collateral estoppel bars the subsequent adjudication of previously determined issues, 

                                                 
3 The North Carolina Supreme Court “no longer requires mutuality of parties when a party seeks to assert collateral 
estoppel defensively,” as defendants seek to do here.  Mays v. Clanton, 169 N.C. App. 239, 241, 609 S.E.2d 453, 455 
(2005).  
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even if the subsequent action is based on an entirely different claim or if the first adjudication was conducted 

in federal court and the second in state court.  Strates Shows, Inc. v. Amusements of Am., Inc., 184 N.C. 

App. 455, 461, 646 S.E.2d 418, 423 (2007).   

 In the prior state litigation, plaintiff sought a declaratory judgment with respect to the Medical 

Board’s 23 February 2012 order for outside assessment and claimed that the Board’s actions violated 

plaintiff’s constitutional right to due process of law.  In its 28 February 2013 order granting the Board’s 

motion to dismiss, the Superior Court specifically concluded that: 

[t]]he Board’s order for an assessment . . serves as an investigatory tool 
and the right to due process does not attach during the investigatory stage, 
but once public charges are issued. 

 
(Mtn to Dism., Ex. B, ¶ 30) (emphasis added). Accordingly, as part of disposing of the principal 

constitutional issues raised by plaintiff, the superior court determined that due process rights do not attach 

during the investigatory stage but only after public charges are issued. Plaintiff raises the same 

constitutional argument here.  

All elements necessary to qualify for collateral estoppel are present. Specifically, the issue of the 

attachment time of due process rights was finally decided by the superior court in its prior order. Thus, 

collateral estoppel bars plaintiff from reasserting his section 1983 claims rooted in due process violations. 

First, the superior court’s order dismissing plaintiff’s declaratory judgment action with prejudice constitutes 

a final judgment on the merits for purposes of issue preclusion.  See Durham v. Daye, 195 N.C. App. 527, 

532, 673 S.E.2d 683, 687 (2009) (“When . . . a trial court dismisses a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure 

to state a claim for relief, that dismissal operates as an adjudication on the merits unless the court specifies 

that the dismissal is without prejudice.”) Plaintiff was also provided a “full and fair opportunity to litigate” 

the issue of attachment of due process rights in state court.  Plaintiff had the right to appeal the North 

Carolina Court of Appeals but made a tactical decision not to do so.  See Hillsboro Partners, LLC, at __, 

738 S.E.2d at 826. (“Plaintiff could have . . . appealed if dissatisfied with the result. The fact that plaintiff 

failed to avail itself of the opportunity does not change our conclusion that it had a full and fair opportunity 

to litigate the subject issue.”). The issue of attachment of due process rights was also actually litigated by 
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the parties and determined by the court in the state case, which issue was necessary to its final judgment 

disposing of plaintiff’s declaratory judgment action.  Finally, the attachment of the due process issue to be 

concluded in the present case, relative to plaintiff’s 1983 claims, is the same as was involved in the prior 

state action.  Plaintiff is collaterally estopped from relitigating that same issue here. See Yow at 246-47. 

4. Plaintiff’s claims for procedural due process violations fail because the complaint only 
alleges that the investigatory powers of the PHP defendants were utilized, and due process 
rights do not attach at that stage. 

 
It is well settled in this Circuit that in order: 

 
[t]o succeed in a procedural due process claim, a plaintiff must show (1) a 
cognizable liberty or property interest; (2) the deprivation of that interest 
by some form of state action; and (3) that the procedures employed were 
constitutionally inadequate. Procedural due process provides merely a 
guarantee of fair procedures—typically notice and an opportunity to be 
heard. 
 

Armstrong v. North Carolina et. al., No. 5:13-CV-627, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71898 at *12 (E.D.N.C. 

2014). The Fourth Circuit has made plain, however, that plaintiff cannot state a good claim here because 

“[w]hen only investigative powers of an agency are utilized, due process considerations do not attach.” 

Georator Corp. v. EEOC, 592 F. 2d 765, 768 (4th Cir. 1979).  The Georator court distinguished investigative 

from adjudicative powers of an agency by explaining that “[w]hen the preliminary determination is without 

legal effect in and of itself, due process will be satisfied if there is an opportunity to be heard before any 

final order of the agency becomes effective.”  Id. at 768-69. In Georator, an employment discrimination 

case, the EEOC’s initial determination of reasonable cause to believe a charge of discrimination was true, 

had no legal effect until the Commission or charging party actually filed suit in district court.  Id. 

 So too here.  All actions alleged against the PHP defendants for violations of procedural due process 

involved only their investigatory powers which rendered preliminary assessments, which were without any 

legal effect. The PHP defendants’ initial assessment and urine screen, recommendations to plaintiff and the 

Medical Board, PHP’s handling of the related paperwork, and an alleged conversation with Dr. Appelbaum 

were merely preliminary determinations without legal effect. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 42, 46, 45, 194) These alleged 

actions were simply a general fact-finding investigation. There was no final order of the Medical Board at 
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the time of any of these alleged actions and in fact, formal charges were not brought against plaintiff by the 

Medical Board until 10 October 2012. After all, the PHP defendants have no statutory authority to take any 

definitive or binding action under Chapter 90. (D.E. 1, ¶ 14; MOU, Secs. 1, 12)  It is also axiomatic that 

Chapter 150 of the North Carolina General Statutes provided an opportunity to be heard on the merits and 

defend the charges before the Board and thus necessarily before any final order disposing of plaintiff’s 

administrative case became effective. Thus, plaintiff’s claims for violations of procedural due process 

pursuant to 42 USC §1983 fail to plausibly state a claim upon which relief can be granted under Rule 

12(b)(6).  Georator at 768-69. 

5. Plaintiff’s claims for substantive due process violations should be dismissed since there 
are no plausible allegations that the PHP defendants forced plaintiff to undergo any 
medical care and there is no fundamental right to practice medicine. 

  
 To state a claim for violation of substantive due process, plaintiff must allege: “(1) that they had 

property or a property interest; (2) that the state deprived them of this property or property interest; and (3) 

that the state's action falls so far beyond the outer limits of legitimate governmental action that no process 

could cure the deficiency.”  Sylvia Dev. Corp. v. Calvert County, 48 F.3d 810, 827 (4th Cir. 1995); see also 

Love v. Pepersack, 47 F.3d 120, 122 (4th Cir. 1995) (“Substantive due process is a far narrower concept 

than procedural; it is an absolute check on certain governmental actions notwithstanding the fairness of the 

procedures used to implement them.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).  The protections of substantive 

due process “run only ‘to state action which is so arbitrary and irrational, so unjustified by any circumstance 

or governmental interest, as to be literally incapable of avoidance by any pre-deprivation procedural 

protections or of adequate rectification by any post-deprivation state remedies.’” Id. (quoting Rucker v. 

Harford County, 946 F.2d 278, 281 (4th Cir. 1991)). 

 Plaintiff’s complaint alleges that his claim falls outside the general substantive due process 

parameters because he has fundamental constitutional rights to retain his medical license, choose his own 

health care provider, and refuse coerced medical care. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 129-130). Specifically, the gravamen of 

the substantive due process claim avers generally that all defendants forced plaintiff into unwarranted 

medical evaluations without his consent and took his property, consisting of his medical license. (D.E. 1, 
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¶¶ 133-34). But there are no specific or plausible allegations directed against any of the PHP defendants 

which allows this Court to draw the reasonable inference that they are liable for the alleged misconduct 

related to the substantive due process claim.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009); Mackean at *15 

–16.  Thus, the claim should be dismissed against the PHP defendants on this basis alone. 

 Even if there were plausible allegations directed towards the PHP defendants, the substantive due 

process claim, as pled, still fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  It is well-settled federal 

constitutional jurisprudence that there are no fundamental rights to practice medicine or choose a particular 

mental health care provider.  See Lambert v. Yellowley, 272 U.S. 581, 596 (1926) (“There is no right to 

practice medicine which is not subordinate to the police power of the states.”); Nat'l Ass'n for Advancement 

of Psychoanalysis v. California Bd. of Psychology, 228 F.3d 1043, 1050 (9th Cir. 2000) (holding that 

“substantive due process rights do not extend to the choice of type of treatment or of a particular health care 

provider” and that “there is no fundamental right to choose a mental health professional with specific 

training”); Mitchell v. Clayton, 995 F.2d 772, 775 (7th Cir. 1993) ("[A] patient does not have a constitutional 

right to obtain a particular type of treatment or to obtain treatment from a particular provider if the 

government has reasonably prohibited that type of treatment or provider.”). The federal courts have 

accordingly held that professional licensure does not implicate the regulated parties’ fundamental rights 

and so the evaluation is under the highly deferential rational basis test.  Since plaintiff’s complaint alleges 

only the violation of fundamental rights and the lack of narrow tailoring, it necessarily fails to state a claim 

upon which relief can be granted.   

 Notwithstanding the fatal pleading deficiencies enumerated above, the substantive due process 

claim still fails, as a matter of law, since plaintiff has not alleged any action by the PHP defendants that 

“shocks the conscience,” “violate[s] the decencies of civilized conduct” or falls so far beyond the outer 

limits of legitimate governmental action. The allegations against the PHP defendants are that they simply 

performed their statutorily prescribed functions of general fact-finding and investigation of plaintiff in order 

to assist the Medical Board. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 42, 45, 46, 61, 194). Dismissal is thus appropriate under Rule 

12(b)(6). Ruttenberg v. Jones, No. 07-1037, 283 Fed. Appx. 121, 129 (4th Cir. 2008) (affirming dismissal 
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of substantive due process claim where allegations that defendants deprived plaintiff of an ABC license 

through “a vindictive campaign culminating in the fabrication of evidence at hearings” regarding the 

licensure is not so arbitrary or irrational as a matter of law); see also Flowers v. Seki, 45 F. Supp. 2d 794, 

801 (D. HI. 1998) (dismissal of substantive due process claim arising from a Hawaii license revocation 

proceeding against plaintiff, a plastic surgeon, where plaintiff alleged that the Hawaii Department of 

Commerce and consumer affairs continued to investigate plaintiff even though they were aware the 

allegations against him had no merit). 

6.  Plaintiff’s section 1983 claim for violation of the Fourth Amendment protection against 
unreasonable search and seizure should be dismissed because drug screening of medical 
professionals is constitutionally reasonable as a matter of law. 

 
 Assuming arguendo, that PHP’s initial assessment as ordered by the Medical Board could be 

construed as a search under the Fourth Amendment, that assessment and commensurate drug screen of 

plaintiff was constitutionally reasonable as a matter of law.  Plaintiff, a formally licensed North Carolina 

psychiatrist, occupied an incredibly safety-sensitive position, which involved protecting the public welfare 

and safety of his patients, many of whom were mentally ill and even suicidal. (D.E. 1, ¶ 71).  Ensuring that 

plaintiff himself exhibited the appropriate mental fitness to retain his unrestricted licensure to practice 

psychiatry in this jurisdiction is necessarily a compelling interest.  See, e.g., Carroll v. City of Westminster, 

233 F. 3d 208, 211 (4th Cir. 2000).  Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment cause of action fails to state a good claim 

for relief under Rule 12(b)(6). American Federation of Government Employees L-2110 v. Derwinski, 777 

F. Supp. 1493 (N.D. Cal. 1991) (holding random drug testing of VA health care professionals was 

reasonable under the Fourth Amendment); Piroglu v. Coleman,  25 F.3d 1098 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (Even in 

the absence of regulations governing testing procedures, emergency medical technician trainees could be 

tested since they were charged with protecting public health and safety); Straub v. Cnty of Greenville, No. 

6-04-21847, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26604 at *14015) (D. S.C. 2006) (emergency medical technicians 

occupies safety sensitive positions and thus no Fourth Amendment violation was found for governmental 

assessment and drug testing).   
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7. The doctrine of qualified immunity bars all Section 1983 claims filed against Drs. 
Pendergast, Taylor, and Collins. 

 
 Drs. Pendergast, Taylor, and Collins are entitled to qualified immunity since “their conduct does 

not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have 

known.” Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982); Lloyd v. 

MacNeish, No. 5:12-CT-3163-FL, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37848, 2015 WL 1391476, at *6 (E.D.N.C. Mar. 

25, 2015). Qualified immunity is accorded when “(1) the plaintiff has not demonstrated a violation of a 

constitutional right, or (2) the court concludes that the right at issue was not clearly established at the time 

of the official's alleged misconduct." Lloyd, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37848, 2015 WL 1391476, at *6.  “Only 

if the plaintiff has alleged a violation of a clearly established right should the court next determine whether 

a reasonable person in the official's position would have known that his actions violated that right.”  

DiMeglio v. Haines, 45 F.3d 790, 794 n.1 (4th Cir. 1995)). In performing this analysis, this court may 

exercise it discretion to determine which of the two steps of the qualified immunity analysis should be 

addressed first.  Williams v. Ozmint, 716 F.3d 801, 805-06 (2913).   

  “The law is clearly established if ‘the contours of a right are sufficiently clear that every reasonable 

official would have understood that what he is doing violates that right.’” West v. Murphy, 771 F.3d 209, 

214 (4th Cir. 2014) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). To make this assessment, this Court 

looks to existing controlling precedent which “must have placed the statutory or constitutional question 

beyond debate.”  Williams v. Haigwood, No, 5:08-CT-3138, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 45161 at *26 (E.D.N.C. 

2013).   

 In the present case, the alleged actions of the PHP defendants constitute the general fact-finding 

and investigatory functions, which consisted of an initial assessment and recommendation to the Medical 

Board for further action. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 42, 46, 61) Plaintiff can cite no case or combination of cases from this 

Court, the Fourth Circuit, the United States Supreme Court, or the North Carolina Supreme Court that 

clearly establishes any of his alleged constitutional violations since none exist. There is consequently no 

existing precedent that placed the constitutional questions “beyond debate.” Williams at * 26. In contrast, 
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for the reasons articulated above, the settled precedent cited herein plainly indicates that plaintiff has failed 

to state a claim upon which relief can be granted with respect to all section 1983 claims. Drs. Pendergast, 

Taylor, and Collins are thus entitled to qualified immunity. See Burch v. N.C. Department of Public Safety, 

No. 4:15-cv-86, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5901 at *32-33 (E.D.N.C. 2016) (concluding that defendants were 

entitled to qualified immunity for plaintiff’s section 1983 claims since they all should be dismissed for 

failure to state a claim). 

C. THE CONSPIRACY CLAIMS FILED AGAINST THE PHP DEFENDANTS PURSUANT 
TO 42 USC § 1985 ARE BARRED AS A MATTER OF LAW. 
 
To state a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3), a plaintiff must prove the following: (1) a conspiracy 

of two or more persons, (2) who are motivated by a specific class-based, invidiously discriminatory animus 

to (3) deprive the plaintiff of the equal enjoyment of rights secured by the law to all, (4) and which results 

in injury to the plaintiff as (5) a consequence of an overt act committed by the defendants in connection 

with the conspiracy. Simmons v. Poe, 47 F.3d 1370, 1376 (4th Cir. 1995).  Significantly, the plaintiff “must 

show an agreement or a meeting of the minds by [the] defendants to violate the [plaintiff's] constitutional 

rights.” Id. at 1377 (internal quotation marks omitted). “[W]e have specifically rejected section 1985 claims 

whenever the purported conspiracy is alleged in a merely conclusory manner, in the absence of concrete 

supporting facts.” Id. 

 Plaintiff’s reported conspiracy claim, alleges nothing more than a bare assertion of a conspiracy in 

the generalized parallel conduct forbidden by Supreme Court precedent.  A Society Without A Name v. 

Commonwealth of Virginia, 655 F.3d 342, 346 (4th Cir. 2011).  As to the PHP defendants, the complaint 

merely alleges that “PHP exceeded and continues to exceed its authorization under empowering statutes 

and violated [the MOU] with the other defendants.” (D.E. 1, ¶ 147) There are simply no allegations that the 

PHP defendants had an agreement or meeting of the minds with any of the other defendants to violate his 

constitutional rights. The claim fails to plausibly plead adequate facts showing an actual conspiracy. 

 The claim is also time-barred under the applicable three-year statute of limitations. Green v. 

Christopher Café, No. 4:04-cv-111, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 99509 at *3-4 (E.D.N.C. 2007). A cause of 
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action for conspiracy under section 1985 accrues when the plaintiff knows or has reason to know of the 

injury which is the basis of his claim. Id. The face of the complaint establishes that plaintiff was well aware 

that PHP allegedly exceeded its statutory authority in December 2011. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 41-47). Since the cause 

of action was not filed until February 2016, it is stale under the applicable statute of limitations. Finally, 

the conspiracy claim, as plead, is barred by the intracorporate conspiracy doctrine since the complaint 

purports to allege a conspiracy solely among and between PHP’s own officers, directors, and agents. Fox 

at 499.  

D. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS AGAINST THE PHP DEFENDANTS FOR VIOLATION OF THE 
AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT ARE TIME-BARRED AND OTHERWISE 
FAIL TO STATE A PLAUSIBLE CLAIM FOR RELIEF  

 
All Title II ADA claims against the PHP defendants are barred by the applicable two-year statute of 

limitations.  See, e.g., Mary’s House Inc. v. North Carolina, 976 F. Supp. 2d 691, 699 (2013) (holding that 

claims brought under title II of the ADA are subject to a two-year statute of limitation.) The ADA claim 

accrued when plaintiff knew or had reason to know of the injury forming the basis of his title II ADA action.  

Cox v. Stanton, 529 F.2d 47, 50 (4th Cir. 1975).  The face of the complaint conclusively establishes that the 

incidents which form the basis of the ADA claim were known to plaintiff as early as October 2011 pursuant 

to the Medical Board’s order directing PHP to assess plaintiff.  Plaintiff alleges that admission into PHP 

requires that a licensee have an impairment which requires treatment such as mental illness, and further that 

PHP assumed plaintiff had a mental impairment and regarded him as disabled. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 41-46, 159-160).   

 Furthermore, plaintiff has failed to plausibly allege a claim under title II of the ADA. To do so, he 

must sufficiently allege that he has a disability, is otherwise qualified to receive the benefits of a public 

service, program, or activity, and was excluded from participation in or denied the benefits of such service, 

program, or activity or otherwise discriminated against on the basis of his disability.  Baird v. Rose, 192 

F.3d 462, 467-70 (4t Cir. 1999). The complaint, however, fails to plausibly allege that plaintiff was 

excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of or otherwise discriminated against by the PHP 

defendants. Plaintiff also fails to plausibly allege any facts which demonstrate that he was a member of a 

protected class by virtue of a claimed disability, was treated any differently than any other participant in 
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the PHP program or that his claimed disability was the basis for any discrimination. Accordingly, the ADA 

claim fails as a matter of law under Rule 12(b)(6). Brewington v. Getrag Corp, No. 5:09-cv-31, 2011 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 118177 at *15-17 (W.D.N.C. 2011); Manickavasagar v. VCU School of Med., 667 F. Supp. 

2d 636, 646 (E.D. Va. 2009). Finally, all ADA claims filed against individual PHP defendants are barred 

since no such individual claims lie under settled Fourth Circuit jurisprudence.  See Baird at 472 (ADA does 

not permit damage claims against individual defendants).   

E. ALL NORTH CAROLINA COMMON LAW TORT CLAIMS FILED AGAINST THE PHP 
DEFENDANTS ARE BARRED PURSUANT TO N.C GEN STAT. § 90 -21.22 (F). 

  
 
 All allegations against the PHP defendants are rooted in peer review activities protected by N.C. 

Gen. Stat. § 90-21.22 and the tripartite MOU at issue in this case. (D.E. 1, ¶¶ 42, 46, 61) Under G.S. §90-

21.22(f) “[p]eer review activities conducted in good faith pursuant to any agreement under this section shall 

not be grounds for civil action under the laws of this state.”  To plausibly allege a sufficient showing of bad 

faith under subsection (f), plaintiff must aver that the PHP defendants had a false purpose or were 

intentionally dishonest - “a species of fraudulent conduct.”  Shannon v. Testan, __ N.C. App. __, __ 777 

S.E.2d 153, 157 (2015).  Plaintiff has plainly failed to meet that high threshold here, and the North Carolina 

Court of Appeals has concluded that a court cannot infer willfulness from carelessness, which is what 

plaintiff necessarily asks this court to do here.  Id.  (D.E. 1, ¶43) Plaintiff’s state law claims are likewise 

barred under the statutory qualified immunity and should be dismissed with prejudice. 

F. ALL NORTH CAROLINA COMMON LAW TORT CLAIMS AGAINST THE PHP 
DEFENDANTS ARE BARRED BY GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY. 

 
 Since PHP is statutorily treated as an arm of the state of North Carolina pursuant to G.S. 90-

21.22(f), all tort claims against that entity and derivative official capacity claims against the individual 

defendants are barred by governmental immunity. 

The doctrine of sovereign immunity is well settled in North Carolina courts: “It is an established 

principle of jurisprudence, resting on grounds of sound public policy, that a state may not be sued in its 

own courts or elsewhere unless it has consented by statute to be sued or has otherwise waived its immunity 
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from suit.”  Welch Contracting, Inc. v. N.C. Dep't of Transp., 175 N.C. App. 45, 51, 622 S.E.2d 691, 695 

(2005). Sovereign immunity extends to state agencies.  Petroleum Traders Corp. v. State, 190 N.C. App. 

542, 547, 660 S.E.2d 662, 664 (2008). Additionally, “sovereign immunity extricates agencies and arms of 

the state from liability when state officials exercise discretionary authority for public benefit. “ Epps. v. 

Duke Univ, 122 N.C. App. 198, 203, 468 S.E.2d 846, 850 (1996).   

PHP is an arm of the state at least four for purposes of the allegations of peer review activities in 

the present complaint.  The North Carolina General Assembly has decreed that “[p]eer review activities. . . 

. are deemed to be State directed and sanctioned and shall constitute State action for the purposes of 

application of antitrust laws.”  G.S. § 90-21.22(f) (emphasis added).  Although North Carolina has enacted 

its Tort Claims Act (N.C. Gen. Stat. §143 – 291 et seq.), the act accords the North Carolina Industrial 

Commission with exclusive jurisdiction to hear all negligence claims brought against the state and its alter 

egos.   Guthrie v. N.C. State Ports. Auth., 307 N.C. 5232, 540, 299 S.E.2d 618, 628 (1983). This tribunal 

consequently has no jurisdiction over all state law negligence claims. There has been no waiver of sovereign 

immunity with respect to intentional torts hence the PHP defendants cannot be sued for intentional infliction 

of emotional distress.   

G. THE EMOTIONAL DISTRESS CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE 
STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND OTHERWISE FAIL TO PLAUSIBLY 
ALLEGE GOOD CLAIMS FOR RELIEF. 

 
 North Carolina’s Court of Appeals has held that, “causes of action for emotional distress, both 

intentional and negligent, are governed by the three-year statute of limitation provisions of N.C. Gen. Stat. 

§ 1-52(5) . . . .”   Russell v. Adams, 125 N.C. App. 637, 640, 482 S.E.2d 30, 33 (1997). As to the allegations 

of the PHP defendants, the complaint makes plain that plaintiff was aware of his claimed emotional distress 

in 2011 when he was “forced to, among other things, undergo unnecessary medical diagnostic evaluations 

on more than one occasion, incur personal expense in doing so, and endure unnecessary care, fear and 

humiliation.” (Emphasis added) (DE, 1 ¶ 140, 141, 144, 147) Since these claims were not filed until 8 

February 2016, the statute of limitations intervenes.  Williams v. Blacknall, 3:11 -cv-594, 2012 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 80182 at * 8. 
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 With respect to both emotional distress claims, the allegations implode and fail to fashion a 

plausible claim for relief under Twombly since plaintiff has specifically pled that he was mentally fit and in 

fact did not have any mental or emotional problems at any time. (DE, 1 ¶ 41).  Both claims also are 

insufficient under Twombly because “threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action supported by 

mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.”  Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555.  Plaintiff’s emotional distress 

claims at paragraphs 175 through 185 are nothing more than threadbare recitals of the elements of these 

causes of action. The doors of discovery for a plaintiff armed with nothing more than these labels and 

conclusions must remain closed. The complaint also fails to specifically allege that any of the PHP 

defendants engaged in any particular conduct relative to these emotional distress claims and is thus vague 

as to who took what action towards whom. Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is therefore appropriate.  

Mackean at *15-16. Additionally, plaintiff has failed to plausibly allege any extreme and outrageous 

conduct under North Carolina law. See Wells v. Moen Inc., No. 4:08-cv-180, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75177 

at *19 (E.D.N.C. 2009) (“alleged conduct did not exceed all bounds tolerated by decent society when the 

complaint merely stated that defendant violated applicable law.”  So too here.  Plaintiff simply alleges that 

the PHP defendants failed to follow Chapter 90 of the General Statutes and the commensurate MOU.   

H. THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CLAIM AGAINST PHP AND DR. PENDERGAST IS 
BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND LACK OF PROXIMATE CAUSE. 

 
 Plaintiff’s claim for medical negligence is barred by the applicable three-year statute of limitations. 

Hussey v. Montgomery Memorial Hosp., 114 N.C. App. 223, 226-28, 441 S.E.2d 577, 578-79 (1994).  

Plaintiff tries to take advantage of N.C. Gen. Stat. §1-15(c) by alleging that he did not discover or have 

reason to discover Dr. Pendergast and PHP’s “injurious misdiagnosis” on 5 December 2011 until the 

complete diagnostic report was furnished to him in August 2015. DE, 1 ¶194).  This argument lacks merit. 

The face of the complaint conclusively establishes as a matter of law that the purported injury was not latent 

but instead apparent in April 2012. (DE, 1 ¶ 59) Specifically, plaintiff alleges that “in the restraining order 

matter, NCMB’s counsel while the pleading intentionally containing HIPAA-protected health information 

regarding Dr. Manion (i.e. quotes from Dr. Pendergast intentionally incorrect or negligent diagnosis of 
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Dr. Manion”). The restraining order was filed in the New Hanover County litigation in January 2012.  (Mtn 

to Dism., Ex. C) Thus, at the latest, the medical negligence cause of action accrued in January 2012.  At the 

earliest, the claim accrued in December 2011, when after Dr. Pendergast’s initial assessment and alleged 

refusal to provide the diagnostic report, PHP recommended that plaintiff undergo an outside assessment.  

(D.E. 1, ¶ 52).  Thus claim was not filed until 8 February 2016, and is time barred.  See Hussey at 227.  

 Additionally, the alleged diagnostic evaluation of plaintiff in December 2011 was not the but for 

or proximate cause of the claimed injuries.  “In a medical negligence case, “[t]he connection or causation 

between the negligence and death must be probable, not merely a remote possibility.” White v. Hunsinger, 

88 N.C. App. 382, 387, 363 S.E.2d 203, 206 (1988) North Carolina defines intervening cause as “an 

independent force which entirely supercedes the original action and renders its effect in the chain of 

causation remote.” Adams v. Mills, 312 N.C. 181, 194, 322 S.E.2d 164, 173 (1984).  The intervening actions 

of the Medical Board in exercising its statutory prerogative to issue orders pursuant to Chapter 90 insulates 

any alleged breach of the standard of care from being the proximate cause of the claimed injuries as a matter 

of law. (MOU, Sec 12) 

I. ALL INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY CLAIMS AGAINST DRS. TAYLOR AND COLLINS IN 
ARE INSUFFICIENT UNDER TWOMBLY  

  
Plaintiff’s claims against Drs. Taylor and Collins in their individual capacities fail because plaintiff 

has not  alleged that they engaged in any specific conduct which would give rise to any claim alleged against 

them. Mackean at *15-16.  The only allegations that pertain to Drs. Taylor and Collins are their identities 

in paragraphs 30 and 31 of the complaint.  Consequently as plaintiff makes no specific   allegations that 

these individual defendants were personally involved in any of the alleged misconduct, the motion to 

dismiss should be granted since they have no fair notice as to the basis of the claims against them  Id.  

This the 11th day of April, 2016. 
 

/s/ G. Gray Wilson 
G. Gray Wilson, N.C. Bar #7398 
 
/s/ Lorin J. Lapidus 
Lorin J. Lapidus, N.C. Bar # 33458 
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WILSON & HELMS LLP 
110 Oakwood Drive, Suite 400 
Winston-Salem, NC  27103 
Phone: (336) 631-8866 
Fax: (336) 631-9770  
gwilson@wilsonhelms.com 
llapidus@wilsonhelms.com 
 
Attorney for Defendants North Carolina Physicians 
Health Program, Inc., Warren Pendergast, M.D., 
Gregory W. Taylor, M.D. and David D. Collins, M.D. 
 

Case 5:16-cv-00063-BO   Document 46   Filed 04/11/16   Page 31 of 32

mailto:gwilson@wilsonhelms.com
mailto:llapidus@wilsonhelms.com


32 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I, G. Gray Wilson, hereby certify that on April 11, 2016, I electronically filed the foregoing 

NORTH CAROLINA PHYSICIANS HEALTH PROGRAM, INC., WARREN PENDERGAST, 

M.CD., GREGORY W. TAYLOR, M.D., and DAVID D. COLLINS, M.D. MEMORANDUM IN 

SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION TO DISMISS with the Clerk of Court using the CM/ECF system which 

will send notification of such filing to the following: 

Donald Carrington Davis 
Donald.davis@ackermanbrown.com 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
Andrew H. Erteschik 
aerteschik@poynerspruill.com 
 
John Michael Durnovich 
jdurnovich@poynerspruill.com 
Attorneys for North Carolina Medical Society 
 
Thomas H. Segars 
tom.segars@elliswinters.com 
 
Matthew W. Sawchak 
matt.sawchak@elliswinters.com 
Attorneys for North Carolina Medical Board, R. David Henderson, Scott 
G. Kirby, M.D., Cheryl Walker-McGill, M.D., Ralph C. Loomis, M.D., 
Janice E. Huff, M.D., and Pascal Udekwu, M.D. 
 
 

/s/ G. Gray Wilson 
G. Gray Wilson, N.C. Bar #7398 
WILSON & HELMS LLP 
110 Oakwood Drive, Suite 400 
Winston-Salem, NC  27103 
Phone: (336) 631-8866 
Fax: (336) 631-9770  
gwilson@wilsonhelms.com 
 
Attorney for Defendants North Carolina Physicians 
Health Program, Inc., Warren Pendergast, M.D., 
Gregory W. Taylor, M.D. and David D. Collins, M.D. 
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